
Agenda - Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus
Lleoliad:
Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - y Senedd
Dyddiad: Dydd Mawrth, 13 Hydref 2015
Amser: 09.00

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth cysylltwch a:
Fay Buckle
Clerc y Pwyllgor
0300 200 6565 
SeneddArchwilio@Cynulliad.Cymru

 

1 Cyflwyniadau, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon
(09:00)  

2 Papurau i’w nodi
(09:00 - 09:05) (Tudalennau 1 - 4) 

3 Cronfa Buddsoddi Cymru mewn Adfywio: Sesiwn Dystiolaeth 3
(09:05 - 09:50) (Tudalennau 5 - 19) 

Papur Briffio’r Gwasanaeth Ymchwil

James Price – Dirprwy Ysgrifennydd Parhaol, Grŵp yr Economi, Sgiliau a Chyfoeth 
Naturiol, Llywodraeth Cymru 
Christopher Munday – Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr, Datrysiadau Busnes, Llywodraeth 
Cymru
Gareth Morgan - Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr, Trafnidiaeth Cyhoeddus, Llywodraeth 
Cymru

4 Cronfa Buddsoddi Cymru mewn Adfywio: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 4
(09:50 - 10:50) (Tudalennau 20 - 27) 

PAC(4)-27-15 Papur 1
Papur Briffio’r Gwasanaeth Ymchwil

Leo Bedford - Amber Infrastructure Ltd
Giles Frost - Amber Infrastructure Ltd

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



5 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y 
cyhoedd o’r cyfarfod ar gyfer y busnes canlynol:
(10:50)  

Eitem 6 

6 Cronfa Buddsoddi Cymru mewn Adfywio: Trafod y dystiolaeth a 
ddaeth i law
(10:50 - 11:00)  



Cofnodion cryno - Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus
Lleoliad:

Ystafell Bwyllgora 3 - y Senedd

Dyddiad: Dydd Mawrth, 6 Hydref 2015

Amser: 09.00 - 10.58

Gellir gwylio’r cyfarfod ar Senedd TV yn:
http://senedd.tv/cy/3250

Yn bresennol

Categori Enwau

Aelodau’r Cynulliad:

Darren Millar AC (Cadeirydd)

Mohammad Asghar (Oscar) AC

Jocelyn Davies AC

Mike Hedges AC

Sandy Mewies AC

Julie Morgan AC

Jenny Rathbone AC

Aled Roberts AC

Tystion:

Gawain Evans, Llywodraeth Cymru

Syr Derek Jones, Llywodraeth Cymru

Peter Kennedy, Llywodraeth Cymru

David Richards, Llywodraeth Cymru

Staff y Pwyllgor:

Fay Buckle (Clerc)

Claire Griffiths (Dirprwy Glerc)

Joanest Varney-Jackson (Cynghorydd Cyfreithiol)

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 2

http://senedd.tv/
http://senedd.tv/cy/3250


Richard Harries (Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru)

Huw Vaughan Thomas (Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru)

TRAWSGRIFIAD

Trawsgrifiad o’r cyfarfod. 

1 Cyflwyniadau, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon 

1.1 Estynnodd y Cadeirydd groeso i’r Aelodau i’r cyfarfod.
1.2 Ni chafwyd unrhyw ymddiheuriadau.
1.3 Datganodd Sandy Mewies AC fuddiant fel Aelod o Gomisiwn y Cynulliad.

2 Papurau i’w nodi 

2.1 Cafodd y papurau eu nodi.

2.1 Craffu ar Gyfrifon 2014-15: Gwybodaeth ychwanegol gan Lyfrgell Genedlaethol 

Cymru 

3 Craffu ar Gyfrifon 2014-15: Cyfrifon Cyfunol Blynyddol Llywodraeth 
Cymru ar gyfer 2014-15: 

3.1 Bu’r Pwyllgor yn trafod Cyfrifon Cyfunol Blynyddol Llywodraeth Cymru ar gyfer 
2014-15, gan holi Syr Derek Jones, Ysgrifennydd Parhaol, David Richards, Cyfarwyddwr 
Llywodraethu, Peter Kennedy, Cyfarwyddwr Adnoddau Dynol a Gawain Evans, Dirprwy 
Gyfarwyddwr Cyllid, Llywodraeth Cymru.

3.2 Cytunodd Syr Derek Jones i anfon rhagor o wybodaeth am y materion canlynol:

 Manylion y traffig i wefan Cyfrifon Cyfunol Llywodraeth Cymru a nifer y bobl a 
fu’n ymweld â’r wefan, i roi arwydd ynghylch nifer y darllenwyr.

 Rhesymau pam y mae swm y gwastraff bwyd drwy ystâd Llywodraeth Cymru wedi 
cynyddu ers 2013-14

 Rhesymau pam nad yw cronfa risg y GIG wedi cael ei nodi fel eitemau unigol yn y 
cyfrifon cyfunol ar gyfer 2014-15 fel y bu yn y gorffennol, ac eglurhad ynghylch 
pam nad yw’r wybodaeth hon wedi cael ei nodi yn y cyfrifon 

 Darparu dadansoddiad llawn o’r eitemau nad ydynt yn arian parod a gwariant a 
reolir yn flynyddol, a chynnwys y ffigurau ar gyfer 2013-14 er mwyn eu cymharu

Tudalen y pecyn 2

file://gba01.gf.wales.gov.uk/Home/griffithsc/Wordfast/Gwaith%20Eirlys/wc%2005.10.15/15-10-06(17)/mgIssueHistoryHome.aspx%3fIId=1311


 Sut y mae Llywodraeth Cymru yn mynd i’r afael â rheoli arian parod, ac yn 
benodol y tanwariant o £86.8m yn ymwneud â byrddau iechyd

 Manylion ar yr hyn y mae’r £19.6m ar gyfer cyfrifoldebau eraill yn ei gynnwys 
 Pryd yr oedd disgwyl cael y derbynebau gwreiddiol ar gyfer y taliadau arbennig 

yn ymwneud â Chwmni Peirianneg Tryst a Swyddfa Desk Link
 Y sefyllfa o ran ailstocio cyffuriau gwrth-firol ar gyfer achosion o ffliw pandemig
 Achos y colledion o ran Dewis Gyrfa Cyf

3.3 Wrth ystyried y dystiolaeth a gafwyd, gofynnodd yr Aelodau i’r Ysgrifennydd 
Parhaol anfon manylion ynghylch sut y bydd ei strategaeth i sicrhau cydbwysedd rhwng 
y rhywiau o 50:50 erbyn 20:20 yn cael ei gyflawni.

4 Ymdrin â’r Heriau Ariannol sy’n wynebu Llywodraeth Leol yng 
Nghymru: Gohebiaeth y Pwyllgor 

4.1 Nododd yr aelodau yr ohebiaeth. 

4.2 Awgrymwyd y byddai’n ddefnyddiol pe bai Llywodraeth Cymru yn gofyn i 
lywodraeth leol ddarparu gwybodaeth fanylach am yr hyn yw bwriad pob cronfa wrth 
gefn a sut y maent yn disgwyl eu gwario dros gyfnod o amser. 

4.3 Dywedodd y Cadeirydd ei bod yn annhebygol y bydd y Pwyllgor yn ailedrych ar y 
mater hwn cyn diwedd tymor y Cynulliad. 

5 Ymateb i Ddiwygio Lles yng Nghymru: Llythyr gan Archwilydd 
Cyffredinol Cymru 

5.1 Cytunodd yr Aelodau y dylai’r Cadeirydd ysgrifennu at Lywodraeth Cymru i ofyn am 
ragor o eglurhad ar yr ymateb i adroddiad y Pwyllgor.

6 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y cyhoedd 
o’r cyfarfod ar gyfer y busnes canlynol: 

6.1 Derbyniwyd y cynnig.

Tudalen y pecyn 3



7 Craffu ar Gyfrifon 2014-15: Trafod y dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law 

7.1 Trafododd yr Aelodau y dystiolaeth a ddaeth i law.

Tudalen y pecyn 4



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 5

Eitem 3Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) vi o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



 

Amber Fund Management Limited 

 

 

Response to the Auditor General’s Report into  

the Regeneration Investment Fund for Wales (RIFW)  

dated 15 July 2015 

 

 

for  National Assembly for Wales 

Public Accounts Committee 

 

 

 

  

Y Pwyllgor Cyfrifon Cyhoeddus / Public Accounts Committee 
PAC(4)-27-15 P1

Tudalen y pecyn 20

Eitem 4



2 | P a g e  

 

1. Executive Summary 

 Amber Fund Management Limited ("AMFL" or “Amber”) welcomes this inquiry and is pleased 
to have the opportunity to set out its views on the Regeneration Investment Fund for Wales 

(“RIFW”) and its own involvement in RIFW. Amber has always constructively engaged with 
the study team of the Auditor General, as acknowledged by the Welsh Audit Office (“WAO”), 
and will continue to do so.  

 From the time that allegations were first raised with respect to the land sale, RIFW and AFML 
have been extremely active to ensure that RIFW’s interests have been properly protected.  
Both RIFW and Amber have been in extensive and co-operative dialogue with Welsh 
Government and an enormous amount of work has been undertaken in reviewing the 
circumstances around the sale.  

 The role of Amber in RIFW, as set out in the Fund Management Agreement with RIFW is to 
advise on the regeneration investment opportunities of RIFW and to manage investments 
once made. Amber is not responsible for property valuation or advice, nor does it make 
property related decisions on behalf of RIFW but in the course of its role in managing and 
supervising LSH, did procure additional legal and valuation advice on the sale in order to fulfil 
its supervisory role.    

 The valuation methodology of the District Valuer and the £30.9 million property portfolio 
valuation that is referred to in the WAO report was not prepared on a like for like basis to the 
actual amount achieved for the sale. This is recognised by the WAO who note in their Report 
that “we consider it unlikely that RIFW could have disposed of the assets to achieve sale 
proceeds consistent with the District Valuer’s market valuation”.  

 Amber is of the view that the decision made by RIFW to sell the portfolio needs to be seen in 
the context of the time at which it was taken and the other pressures that RIFW was subject 
to in terms of its investment pipeline. 

 The WAO noted that “In its role as Fund Manager, Amber applied robust evaluative and 
financial due diligence procedures to applications from potential projects for investment 
funding. Despite pressure from the need for RIFW to commit funds to regeneration projects 
by December 2015 in order to draw down the full amount of its available ERDF funding, our 
review of a sample of applications found that Amber’s decisions in respect of approval or 
rejection on behalf of the RIFW Board were soundly based.” 

 AFML is of the view that while it undertook its supervisory and investment duties diligently, 
wider lessons can be taken from the way in which RIFW was established and the portfolio 
disposal process, and is pleased to be able to share these insights in this submission.   

2. Introduction 

AFML is pleased to submit this paper at the request of the National Assembly for Wales Public 
Accounts Committee ("PAC") as a response to the Auditor General's Report into the RIFW dated 15 
July 2015 (the "Report").  We are committed to collaborating with the committee throughout the 
process in the shared interest of the success of RIFW.  

Tudalen y pecyn 21



3 | P a g e  

 

This submission addresses the inquiry’s terms of reference, the background and the context to 
AFML’s involvement in RIFW, as well as dealing with specific points addressed to AFML in the 
Report.  If further information is required, we will do our upmost to assist the Committee’s inquiry.  

The Report is wide ranging in its scope with the main focus on the process and outcome of the 
disposal of the portfolio of land assets which had been transferred by Welsh Government to RIFW at 
the time of its establishment.  These assets were provided in lieu of cash so that through a 
combination of cash and property assets (assumed by Welsh Government to have a total value of 
£30m) RIFW would be established with total assets of £55m as shown below.   

 

2.1 Structure of RIFW and the role of Amber  

The structure of RIFW and its funding with a mix of cash investment from European sources 
combined with cash and land transferred from Welsh Government was determined by Welsh 
Government prior to AFML being appointed as fund manager to RIFW. 

AFML was appointed by RIFW as its fund manager following a competitive process run by Welsh 
Government.  AFML continues in this role working in close dialogue with Welsh Government and is 
also (along with Welsh Government) a member of RIFW (which is constituted as a limited liability 
partnership).  AFML is an adviser on investment opportunities not a property adviser.  As RIFW’s fund 
manager, AFML’s main role is to advise on the regeneration investment opportunities of RIFW and to 
manage investments once made.  RIFW has made one investment to date.   

Following the original procurement of advisers for RIFW by Welsh Government, RIFW and AFML 
jointly employed the property consultancy firm Lambert Smith Hampton (LSH) as RIFW’s “investment 
manager”.  In this function LSH’s main role was to provide advice to RIFW and AFML on property 
related matters both in respect of new investment and in respect to the “land dowry” with which RIFW 
was established.  LSH owed the same contractual duties to each of RIFW and AFML in this role.  

The WAO notes that that “The legal contracts agreed between RIFW LLP, Amber and LSH resulted in 
complex arrangements in which there was simultaneously a tripartite relationship between the three 
as well as a bilateral relationship between Amber (as principal) and LSH (as agent). This complexity 
created a degree of ambiguity and confusion between the parties, which has been reflected in their 
differing portrayals to us of their respective responsibilities and relationships to each other”. 

While AFML agrees with this statement, it notes that the contractual frameworks was established by 
the Welsh Government prior to procurement of AFML and LSH as advisers to RIFW, and that in the 
course of that Restricted Procedure procurement AFML were told that no changes to the contractual 
structure or terms would be accepted by Welsh Government for procurement reasons.  In practice 
however AFML, Welsh Government and RIFW have worked very closely at all times and AFML 
considers that these close working relationships have mitigated any problems that might otherwise 
have existed. 

Tudalen y pecyn 22



4 | P a g e  

 

3. Comments on Value  

The WAO’s overall conclusion is that:  

Due to flaws in the way RIFW was established, in the selection of assets and also in the sale process 
itself, neither RIFW nor the Welsh Government are able to demonstrate that value for money was 
achieved from the portfolio sale transaction. 

The decision making relating to the sale of the land was a matter reserved under RIFW’s constitution 
for the RIFW board and as such was not a matter delegated to AFML.  As noted above RIFW 
employed a property consultancy firm who gave it advice on property related matters.  That firm owed 
contractual duties to both RIFW and AFML.  These duties included to: 

 act in a competent and efficient manner and in the best interests of the Fund Manager and 
the Partnership so as to give to the Fund Manager and the Partnership the full and complete 
benefit of the Manager’s experience and expertise in relation to the Properties; 

 exercise the reasonable skill and care to be expected of an experienced investment manager; 

 have regard to the principles of good estate management and professional codes of conduct 
and/or guidelines laid down from time to time by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors 
(or its successor body from time to time); 

From the time that allegations were first raised with respect to the land sale, RIFW and AFML have 
been extremely active to ensure that RIFW’s interests have been properly protected.  Both RIFW and 
AFML have been in extensive and co-operative dialogue with Welsh Government and an enormous 
amount of work has been undertaken in reviewing the circumstances around the sale. 

Notably both RIFW and AFML (in conjunction with Welsh Government) have been anxious to 
understand whether there is any possibility that RIFW was negligently advised with respect to the land 
sale and, in the event that it was, to ensure proper legal recompense was available.  As a 
consequence, in order to protect RIFW in this respect, additional legal and valuation advice was 
procured for RIFW (in accordance with Welsh Government procurement procedures) and shared with 
Welsh Government. 

In particular RIFW commissioned a fully independent ex-post facto valuation of the land portfolio from 
Colliers International (a large firm of international property consultants with no prior involvement with 
the portfolio).  This valuation was commissioned by RIFW expressly on terms and conditions that 
would enable it to be utilised by RIFW as expert evidence in any legal proceedings that might be 
brought in the future.  AFML believes that among the range of valuation opinions considered by the 
WAO relating to the portfolio it is only the Colliers valuation report (commissioned by RIFW) that was 
prepared with the forensic goal of establishing the issue of whether RIFW had suffered loss through 
inadequate advice. 

As noted in the Report, the conclusion of the independent Colliers valuation was that the aggregate 
Market Value of each individual asset which sold as part of the portfolio to SWLDL is £22,225,000.   
This value accorded with the actual sales price achieved by RIFW for the land portfolio.   

Given this conclusion, RIFW’s legal advisers, Blake Morgan, have told RIFW that even if it were the 
case that RIFW was badly advised (which is denied by LSH) then because no loss to RIFW can be 
demonstrated then there is no basis for RIFW to take any legal action in respect to the advice given to 
it about the land sale. 

Tudalen y pecyn 23



5 | P a g e  

 

We believe from discussion with the WAO that they too accept that there is no valuation evidence that 
would establish on the balance of probabilities (the relevant civil standard of proof) that RIFW suffered 
a loss on the land sale through negligent advice.  We believe that it is important this point is made 
clear.  

AFML and RIFW continue to keep this matter under close scrutiny.  AFML, RIFW and the Welsh 
Government have a complete identity of interest in ensuring that RIFW has not suffered loss through 
being improperly advised.  Were it the case that evidence was to emerge that RIFW had suffered loss 
through bad advice both AFML and RIFW would have no hesitation in enforcing their contractual 
rights in this respect. 

However, this is not the complete picture. The work of the PAC and WAO is partly focussed on 
whether the actual transaction that took place at the actual time it occurred was on reasonable terms. 
As noted above, subject to any new evidence that may emerge, subsequent professional advice has 
not suggested that RIFW has grounds of complaint in this respect.  But that work is also focussed on 
whether better outcomes would have been achieved had an alternative approach to the land portfolio 
been adopted. 

4. Comments on Process 

No doubt, because of the points referred to above, the main thrust of the Report and its 
recommendations go towards the process adopted with respect to the sale.  The centrepiece of the 
Report is the WAO statement that: 

Our conclusions are reinforced by, but are not completely dependent upon, the District Valuer’s 
valuation of £30.9 million for the property portfolio sold to SWLD, excluding any future receipts from 
overage. This valuation, which is higher than other valuations of the portfolio, is predicated on 
different valuation assumptions and also an alternative approach to disposal that would maximise 
potential returns for RIFW.  

The £30.9m figure has received a lot of publicity but the important point here is that in reaching this 
conclusion the District Valuer (and WAO) have moved away from a like for like comparison with the 
transaction that occurred and that this figure is predicated on different valuation assumptions and also 
an alternative approach to disposal.  This means that the £30.9m figure used by the District Valuer 
and referred to in the Report cannot be directly compared with the actual amount achieved on sale.   

Indeed the Report recognises this stating: 

We acknowledge that RIFW’s structure and remit were not designed to facilitate realisation of the 
maximum potential sale proceeds from its asset portfolio in the short-term….furthermore, RIFW’s 
understanding of the assets’ value was based upon a notional ‘transfer value’ set by the Welsh 
Government below the asset portfolio’s market value and which was already known within the 
property market. Therefore, we consider it unlikely that RIFW could have disposed of the assets to 
achieve sale proceeds consistent with the District Valuer’s market valuation. [added emphasis] 

In effect, the District Valuer and WAO are suggesting that had different processes been adopted in 
the establishment of RIFW then different and better outcomes might have been achieved.  Such 
views are of course heavily influenced by hindsight.  AFML have a number of comments on the 
processes associated with the land portfolio in the following section.  These views are not uncritical.  
In particular AFML have comments on the processes relating to: 

 the establishment of RIFW with a land dowry; 

Tudalen y pecyn 24



6 | P a g e  

 

 the decision to sell the portfolio; 

4.1 Establishment of RIFW  

The Report comments that the RIFW investment concept was innovative and has many merits, but 
the need to sell property assets was a distraction from RIFW’s core investment purpose.  AFML 
agrees with this view.  

In hindsight (and obviously this decision pre-dated any AFML involvement in RIFW), it would have 
been much easier if Welsh Government had taken responsibility for selling the portfolio and then 
transferred the proceeds of sale to RIFW, particularly as the assets proved to be complex and 
management intensive (see para 3.10 to 3.13 of the Report).  This would have allowed RIFW to focus 
fully on investing to create jobs.  As Fund Manager, AFML was selected for its investment expertise. 

RIFW was set up to promote investment.  Its core mission is evident in its name – the Regeneration 
Investment Fund for Wales. It was to do this by investing cash into employment generative 
development.  This inevitably focussed attention within RIFW on the need to turn the property assets 
it had had transferred to it into cash as soon as reasonably practicable in order to focus on its core 
investment function. 

Ultimately AFML concurs with the WAO conclusion: The need for RIFW to realise sufficient proceeds 
from property sales to fund its investment operations represented a significant distraction from its core 
purpose, to invest in regeneration schemes. 

4.2 Decision on the Sale of the Portfolio 

The Report states that RIFW wrongly believed that the whole asset portfolio had to be sold by 
December 2015 and, arguably, implies that this was a motivation behind seeking an early sale of the 
portfolio.  Moreover the Report states that Amber and LSH both maintain that ERDF match-funding 
placed a requirement upon RIFW to sell all of the property assets in order to invest the proceeds in 
regeneration projects by December 2015.  AFML does not accept the attribution to it of that remark.  
AFML has never maintained that position and is unaware of any reason that would justify the WAO 
assuming that it has. AFML does not believe that RIFW was under the impression that the portfolio 
had to be sold by the end of December 2015 simply for the purposes of ERDF match-funding. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, RIFW was under both a self-imposed pressure and an external 
pressure to realise the value within the property portfolio.  This was not because of any 
misapprehension of EU legal requirements but because of the extent of the need for regeneration 
investment in the target areas of Wales.  The sale discussion in the middle of 2011 took place against 
a backdrop of the following: 

 A property market where land values were falling.  In August 2011 the house price index was 
showing a 4.5% fall in house prices in Wales on an annualised basis. Indeed LSH were 
advising RIFW that there was a risk that the land portfolio might be worth less than the value 
at which it had been transferred to RIFW1. 

 The Welsh economy was contracting during the worst recession in a generation; 

                                                 
1
 

http://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/hpi/view?from_m=0&from_y=2011&loc_0=Wales&loc_uri_0=http%3A%2F%2Flandregistry.d
ata.gov.uk%2Fid%2Fregion%2Fwales&m_ap=1&m_chy=1&m_hpi=1&source=preview_form&to_m=11&to_y=2011 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 25

http://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/hpi/view?from_m=0&from_y=2011&loc_0=Wales&loc_uri_0=http%3A%2F%2Flandregistry.data.gov.uk%2Fid%2Fregion%2Fwales&m_ap=1&m_chy=1&m_hpi=1&source=preview_form&to_m=11&to_y=2011
http://landregistry.data.gov.uk/app/hpi/view?from_m=0&from_y=2011&loc_0=Wales&loc_uri_0=http%3A%2F%2Flandregistry.data.gov.uk%2Fid%2Fregion%2Fwales&m_ap=1&m_chy=1&m_hpi=1&source=preview_form&to_m=11&to_y=2011


7 | P a g e  

 

 Unemployment rates across all ages were at the highest levels seen across Wales in the 
period of recession; 

 A strong political imperative to stimulate growth - “we are committed to getting people into 
jobs, and trying to keep people in their jobs” - First Minister Carwyn Jones in August 2011.” 

Against this backdrop there was obvious pressure for RIFW to fulfil its core role and contribute to 
regenerative activity in the Wales economy.  RIFW had a strong pipeline of opportunities to invest in 
regeneration projects.  The WAO makes an illustrative comment that: 

The quarterly reports prepared by Amber for the Board indicate that by early 2013 the stream of 
potential projects had strengthened and an increasing number of potential projects had been 
evaluated. The RIFW progress report to WEFO for the period ending 30 April 2013 documented that 
there were 62 projects at various stages of development. 

There were therefore strong pressures on RIFW to ensure that it had the cash available to meet the 
expected calls on its resources and enable it to meet the anticipated stream of investment 
opportunities.  The concern at the time was to ensure that the relatively illiquid land assets held by 
RIFW were turned into cash at a rate sufficient to ensure capital was available for RIFW to deploy into 
employment generative regeneration investment. In the view of AFML it was in the light of this 
position that the RIFW board made the decision to sell the property portfolio. 

It is also important to appreciate that the sale of the portfolio proceeded on the basis of full external 
professional advice from RIFW’s investment manager.  LSH, who acted as RIFW’s investment 
manager responsible for advising on property matters, is one of the largest property advisory 
businesses in the UK.  The way this worked was for LSH to submit reports on property matters to 
AFML who then forwarded these (together with any other reports that AFML prepared relating to non-
property matters) as part of a fuller board pack to RIFW.   

Where the Report refers to AFML circulating papers to the board these were in fact (so far as they 
related to the land sale) papers prepared by LSH which were then on-sent by AFML to RIFW.  
Examination of the actual papers makes this process clear.  While AFML is tasked with oversight of 
LSH, AFML is not qualified to comment on the specific content of LSH’s valuation advice but so far as 
it knows all LSH’s advice was acted upon by RIFW.  

The RIFW board who considered these reports included members and observers who were 
themselves expert on property matters.  In addition to members with such experience from the private 
sector the board included Welsh Government employees with direct experience of land transfers and 
had as a participant at all its meetings the individual who had had responsibility for the land portfolio 
while it was in the ownership of Welsh Government.  The decisions made by RIFW relating to the sale 
were considered debated and supported by both board members and attendees. 

AFML is of the view that the decision to sell the portfolio needs to be seen in the context of the time at 
which it was taken and the other pressures that RIFW was subject to in terms of its investment 
pipeline. 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 26



8 | P a g e  

 

5. Other Comment 

AFML would like to make one specific comment on paras 3.130 to 3.137 of the report which deal with 
the question of possible “state aid”.  This is important as the WAO correctly state that the Investment 
Management Agreement also required that both Amber and LSH should use their best endeavours to 
ensure compliance with EU requirements, including in relation to state aid. 

It is of obvious importance that the giving of unlawful state aid is avoided and AFML notes the 
recommendation that the Welsh Government should investigate whether unlawful state aid has been 
provided.  Since this issue was first raised considerable time and expense has been incurred in 
obtaining both a legal opinion from a law firm and from a specialist QC which have given reassurance 
on this point.   

While the comment of the WAO that: …we are unable to place audit reliance upon either the legal 
opinion obtained by RIFW or the QC opinion… is noted, AFML is not aware that the WAO has 
obtained any different legal advice. 

Tudalen y pecyn 27


	Agenda
	2 Papurau i’w nodi
	3 Cronfa Buddsoddi Cymru mewn Adfywio: Sesiwn Dystiolaeth 3
	4 Cronfa Buddsoddi Cymru mewn Adfywio: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 4



